#### PROCEDURES MEMORANDUM

TO: MCC Staff

FROM: Office of the President

SUBJECT: Employee Discipline Procedural Suggestions and General Work Expectations

DATE: August 12, 2022

PURPOSE: To suggest to supervisors procedures for addressing employee discipline and

performance deficiencies and to advise employees of general work expectations.

SCOPE: The procedural suggestions described herein may be applied to full-time and part-

time non-exempt employees, full-time exempt employees, full-time academic

advisors, faculty, and counselors.

As used in this Procedures Memorandum, "exempt" employees are those employees of the College who are exempt from (and thus not entitled to) payment of overtime compensation under the provisions of the federal Fair Labor Standards Act; all other employees of the College are "non-exempt" employees.

These suggestions may not be applied where such application would conflict with procedures prescribed by statute, by applicable collective bargaining agreement(s), or by other policies of the College Board of Governors.

The procedural suggestions stated herein are intended for use solely by supervisory employees in performing supervisory functions. The College reserves the right to deviate from the procedural suggestions described herein at any time with or without notice. These procedural suggestions do not form any part of any contract of employment between any employee(s) and the College.

#### Table of Contents

# SECTION I: Employee Discipline Procedural Suggestions

Responsibilities

General Principles

Notification of General Work Expectations and Standards of Conduct

Non-Disciplinary Actions

**Disciplinary Actions** 

Special Rules Apply if the Reason for Disciplinary Action is a "Stigmatizing" Reason Miscellaneous

Special Notice Under the Drug Free Schools & Communities Act Amendments of 1989

# **SECTION II: General Work Expectations**

General Expectations
Hours of Work and Attendance
Property
Personal Actions and Appearance
Outside Activities and Employment

# SECTION I Employee Discipline Procedural Suggestions

### 1. Responsibilities

- A. Supervisors Supervisors should be aware of employee misconduct and/or performance deficiencies within the supervisor's respective department or area. It is the responsibility of the department supervisor and the next higher supervisor to initiate non-disciplinary action and disciplinary action when it becomes necessary.
- B. Vice President for Human Resources The Vice President for Human Resources will serve in an advisory role to supervisors contemplating non-disciplinary actions or disciplinary actions as described herein. For the protection of the interests of the supervisor and the College, no supervisor should take or initiate such actions without prior consultation with the Vice President for Human Resources.

### 2. General Principles

The College believes discipline is used most constructively when intended to be corrective in nature rather than punitive.

As such, discipline is normally most constructive when applied in a progressive manner that enables employees to have the opportunity to correct problems before more serious actions are taken. The object of progressive discipline is to improve employee performance and conduct and thus facilitate improved College operations. The application of progressive discipline is, however, dependent upon the seriousness of the problem as determined by supervisors under the circumstances of each case. Some problems may warrant more severe supervisory actions in the first instance. The College fully reserves the right to impose such discipline as may be deemed appropriate by supervisors under the circumstances of each case.

Misconduct and failure to meet performance standards require action by supervisors. Examples of misconduct include, but are not limited to, negligence, conviction of a crime, conduct unbecoming a College employee, dishonesty, failure or refusal to follow lawful instructions or orders of a supervisor or other authorized College employee, insubordination or other failure to meet General Work Expectations outlined in Section II of this Procedures

Memorandum. Failure to meet performance standards may range from inefficiency to inadequacy to incompetence. Performance standards are established, among other methods, by day-to-day instructions of supervisors.

The two-year probationary period prescribed by state law for full-time faculty provides that faculty may be terminated during such period without cause. College policy reflects state law in that regard. State law prescribes certain of the procedures to be followed in terminating a non-probationary faculty member for just cause. College policy conforms to such procedures.

Exempt non-faculty employees, academic advisors, and counselors receive annual appointments. During the terms of such annual appointments, these employees may be terminated for just cause, <u>provided</u> that such employees newly employed are subject to a two-year probationary period. During the two-year probationary period, the College may terminate such appointments without cause at any time. In addition, renewal of employment upon expiration of such annual appointments during or after the two-year probationary period is at the continuing discretion of the College.

Non-exempt employees (both regular and non-regular) are employed, during the original and any extension of the orientation period applicable to non-exempt employees, and thereafter, at the continuing discretion of the College President. The original and any extended orientation period should be used to screen out newly hired non-exempt employees who are not performing as expected. Satisfactory completion of the original and any extended orientation period does not, however, constitute any contract or assurance of continued employment.

#### 3. Notification of General Work Expectations and Standards of Conduct

Notification to employees of work expectations and accepted standards of conduct is accomplished through such materials as procedures memoranda, bulletin board postings, written or oral directions, e-mail, employee handbooks, etc. Notification also occurs through the orientation and performance evaluation process, training, day-to-day supervision and supervisory instructions, and prior non-disciplinary action(s) and disciplinary action(s). In addition, General Work Expectations are outlined in Section II of this Procedures Memorandum. Employees are expected to familiarize themselves with the above referenced materials and information.

# 4. Non-Disciplinary Actions

Non-disciplinary actions are actions that may be taken when performance or conduct problems are first observed and before those problems reach a level that is judged by supervisor(s) to require disciplinary actions. However, circumstances may cause the supervisor to determine, in their judgment, that immediate disciplinary action is warranted without prior non-disciplinary action.

The use of non-disciplinary actions in appropriate cases may resolve problems and eliminate the need for later disciplinary actions. If later disciplinary action(s) is required, prior non-

disciplinary action(s) will serve as evidence of prior notification and of supervisory efforts to correct the problem. Some non-disciplinary actions which may be used for constructive corrective purposes are:

- A. <u>Employee Consultation</u> Employee consultation by supervisors may be conducted when there is a perceived need to clarify job performance expectations or to correct conduct infractions or performance deficiencies judged by the supervisor to be minor. At such consultations, supervisors can explain to the employee the problem area(s), indicate what corrective steps need to be taken, and answer questions relating to the problem area(s). Such consultations with the employee should be conducted in private. Supervisory staff should document any such consultation by preparing and retaining a typed note or memorandum describing the subject matter(s) discussed and the date the consultation took place.
- B. <u>Clarification of Expectations</u> A written clarification of conduct or of performance expectations may be given by the supervisor to an employee when the supervisor believes there is a need to more formally clarify such expectations or to attempt to correct minor infractions. The clarification normally would be prepared after an employee consultation that has not resolved the problem or to confirm the consultation. However, a clarification of expectations may be given without a prior employee consultation if warranted in the supervisor's judgment. A written clarification of expectations may also be useful if the instructions are so detailed that they need to be written down.

A clarification of expectations ordinarily should state the problem area(s), the action necessary by the employee to solve the problem(s), and include references to any previous employee consultations or clarifications of expectations relating to the same, similar or prior performance or conduct problem(s), if applicable. Clarification of expectations should be documented in the form of a memorandum, discussed with the employee, and signed by the supervisor and the employee. If the employee refuses to sign, the supervisor should so note on the memorandum. The employee should be given a copy of the clarification. A copy of the clarification of expectations will remain in the employee's personnel file permanently.

C. <u>Reassignment or Transfer</u> – Reassignment or transfer (not involving reduction in grade or loss of pay) can sometimes be an effective way of resolving a job performance, conduct, personality conflict or other problem which does not warrant immediate disciplinary action.

By requesting the assistance of the Vice President for Human Resources, supervisors may arrange for or seek lateral reassignment or transfer of an employee if, in the judgment of the supervisor, the employee is not functioning effectively in their present assignment or position due to job performance, conduct, personality conflict or other problems. This option is, of course, limited by the then-availability of lateral vacant positions. A written statement of the reasons for the reassignment or transfer

may be given to the employee by the supervisor and a copy will be placed in the employee's personnel file permanently.

D. <u>Referral to Employee Assistance Program or Other Agencies</u> – When deemed appropriate, supervisory officials may refer employees to the Employee Assistance Program or to other social service agencies or counselors.

The above outlined non-disciplinary actions need not be applied in sequence nor in any particular order. Further, non-disciplinary actions need not precede imposition of any of the disciplinary actions described in the following paragraphs. In each case, the supervisor should take or initiate such non-disciplinary or disciplinary action(s) which, in the supervisor's judgment, is in the best interest of the College, giving due regard to the time and money previously expended by the College in recruiting and training the employee, and whether, in the supervisor's judgment, the employee can become a fully satisfactory employee if action other than discharge is taken.

No appeals of non-disciplinary actions are permitted.

# 5. Disciplinary Actions

It is suggested that supervisors attempt to impose disciplinary action to which, in the supervisor's judgment, the employee is most likely to satisfactorily respond. Corrective discipline implies that the disciplinary action imposed by the supervisor is intended to result in correction of employee performance or conduct.

However, in each case the supervisor should take or initiate such non-disciplinary or disciplinary action(s) which, in the supervisor's judgment, is in the best interest of the College, giving due regard to the time and money previously expended by the College in recruiting and training the employee, and whether, in the supervisor's judgment, that employee can become a fully satisfactory employee if action other than discharge is taken.

Special Rules Apply if the Reason for Disciplinary Action is a "Stigmatizing" Reason. In every situation, the supervisor must consider early on in the disciplinary process whether the reason for taking disciplinary action is a "stigmatizing" reason (such as an allegation or suspicion of dishonesty, sexual or fiscal misconduct, criminal behavior, immorality, racism, child or student abuse, an act of moral turpitude, or the like). This is because the courts distinguish "stigmatizing" reasons from the more routine reasons for employee discipline (such as unsatisfactory job performance, unsatisfactory attendance, failure or refusal to follow instructions, and so forth). Specific legal considerations and restrictions apply if the reason for disciplinary action can do serious harm to an employee's reputation (that is, a "stigmatizing" reason), and the courts often require additional procedures and safeguards where the reason is a stigmatizing reason. Whenever the reason for discipline possibly involves a stigmatizing reason, the supervisor should consult with both the Vice President for Human Resources and the College's General Counsel before taking any disciplinary action. It is also critical that the supervisor not discuss the matter with anyone other than the employee, the Vice President for Human

Resources, the Associate Vice President for Compliance and General Counsel, or the President.

Once the supervisor, in the exercise of their judgment, has determined that disciplinary action is warranted, the matter <u>may</u> be best handled by following this sequence of disciplinary actions: oral reprimand, written reprimand, imposed probation, imposed downgrade (non-exempt employees only), suspension and discharge.

However, supervisors and the College are not bound to follow such sequence when unacceptable performance or misconduct are, in the discretion and judgment of supervisors, considered to be so severe or cumulative as to warrant immediate suspension or discharge. Similarly, supervisors may elect to give more than one reprimand or to seek consecutive suspensions of increasing severity for repeated, similar, or cumulative infractions or performance deficiencies. Additionally, more than one disciplinary action, more than one non-disciplinary action, or any combination of disciplinary and non-disciplinary actions, may be imposed at the same time, such as suspension followed by imposed probation on return to work. Documentation of all disciplinary actions will be maintained in the affected employee's personnel file permanently.

# Disciplinary actions and procedures are:

- A. <u>Verbal Reprimand</u> An oral reprimand may be appropriate for non-repetitive job performance problems or conduct infraction(s) judged by the supervisor to be of such a nature as not to require more severe disciplinary action. The supervisor explains the problem or infraction(s) to the employee and requests the employee's cooperation in correcting their behavior. The supervisor should make and retain a note or memorandum of the reprimand for future reference.
- B. Written Reprimand A written reprimand may be given for cumulative or repeated job performance problem(s) or conduct infraction(s), where deemed appropriate in the supervisor's judgment, or for a single occurrence where the supervisor judges the occurrence to require more substantial disciplinary action than an oral reprimand.

Supervisory staff should prepare a written reprimand in memorandum or letter form. The written reprimand should explain the infraction(s) or problem(s) to the employee and indicate to the employee what specific steps the employee should take to remedy the situation. The written reprimand should document or list the employee's past offenses or problems, if any, and recite that it is a written reprimand. The employee should also be informed in writing that he/she may file with the supervisor a written response to the reprimand for inclusion in the personnel file along with the written reprimand.

The supervisor should sign the written reprimand and receipt should be evidenced by the employee's signature. If the employee refuses to sign the reprimand, the supervisor should note such refusal on the memorandum or letter. Copies, with all

- signatures, should be given to the employee and to the Vice President for Human Resources for permanent placement in the employee's official College personnel file.
- C. <u>Imposed Probation</u> An imposed probation of three to six months duration, or longer, may be given for an occurrence or for job performance or misconduct problems (or accumulations or repetitions of such occurrences or problems) if the supervisor's judgment is that such problems warrant(s) further or more substantial disciplinary action than a written reprimand.

Imposed probation will require prior review and approval of the Vice President for Human Resources. If an employee is placed on imposed probation, supervisory staff should prepare a memorandum to the employee outlining the reason for the imposed probation, the specific actions(s) necessary to remedy the problem(s), and the length of the probationary period. The signed memorandum should be given to the employee who will be requested to acknowledge receipt in writing, with a copy directed to the Vice President for Human Resources for inclusion in the employee's personnel file. If the employee refuses to sign the imposed probation, the supervisor should note such refusal on the memorandum. The copy of the imposed probation memorandum will remain in the employee's personnel file permanently.

After completion of an imposed probationary period that is not of permanent duration, if not before, a written performance review will be conducted by the supervisor to review the employee's job performance and/or conduct during the probationary period. A copy of the performance review will be given to the employee and the original will be sent to the Human Resources office. The review must indicate the supervisor's judgment regarding the necessity for any further disciplinary action or indicate resolution of the problem(s).

If deemed appropriate, the period of imposed probation may be extended by the supervisor, with the approval of the Vice President for Human Resources. Procedurally, extension of an imposed probation will be handled as if it were a new imposed probation.

D. Imposed Downgrade to Position in Lower Job Group (Pay Grade) for Regular Non-Exempt Employees (not applicable to exempt positions) — Where deemed practical and in the best interest of the College, a supervisor may, after obtaining the approvals described below, impose on a non-exempt employee a reduction in pay grade/classification or a demotion to a position having a lower pay grade as a disciplinary action. Supervisors must recognize, however, that this may be done only in situations where the College has an employment opening available for a person of the pay grade and classification to which the employee is to be demoted or reduced, and only where the employee meets the qualifications for such an available opening. The Vice President for Human Resources will assist in identifying available openings. Where such disciplinary action would require reassignment of the employee to a different supervisor's area of responsibility, prior approval must be obtained from (1) the supervisor, Dean and Vice President having supervisory authority over the area to

which the employee is to be reassigned, (2) the Dean and Vice President having supervisory authority over the area from which the employee is to be reassigned. Reduction in pay grade/classification or demotion of a non-exempt employee, which has been approved as specified above, shall be final and no appeal is allowed therefrom.

- E. <u>Suspension</u> A supervisor may, with the advice of the College's General Counsel and the approval of the President, suspend an employee where, in the exercise of their judgment, the supervisor determines there are serious (or repeated minor or cumulative) job performance problems or conduct infractions, or where suspension is deemed appropriate pending further investigation. The length of suspension should be determined by the seriousness of the matter and the employee's past work behavior. Normally, suspensions will be from one to three days' duration, but may be longer.
  - 1) <u>Suspension Without Pay Procedures for Exempt Employees</u> Suspension without pay of an exempt employee is not to be imposed unless, prior thereto, the employee has been provided the following "due process" procedures:
    - a) Written notice of the cause or causes for disciplinary action;
    - b) An explanation of the evidence against the employee, including the names of person(s) making allegations about the matter and witnesses, in sufficient detail to enable the employee to meaningfully respond to the charge(s) and present evidence relating to them; and
    - c) A meaningful opportunity to respond to the allegations/charges against the employee, to explain his or her side of the story, and to present evidence in support of his or her defense.

If the suspending supervisor, after the foregoing "due process" procedures have been completed, determines that just cause exists and suspension without pay is warranted, the employee shall be notified in writing of the decision. An employee so notified shall have the right to request a hearing with the President.

Appeals by Exempt Employees of Suspensions Without Pay – If the employee wishes to request a hearing before the President, the employee must deliver to the College President or to the College's General Counsel, within five (5) calendar days after the date the employee is notified in writing of the suspension decision, a written request for a hearing before the President. For this purpose, if the last calendar day for delivering the written request for a hearing falls on a Saturday, Sunday, College holiday, or day that the College is closed due to inclement weather, the written request for a hearing shall be considered to have been timely delivered by the employee if it is delivered on the next ensuing business day on which the College Business Office is open for business.

At the hearing before the President, the College General Counsel shall present evidence in support of the suspension and the employee may present evidence related thereto. The President shall render a written decision, based on the evidence produced at the hearing, to sustain, reverse, or modify the suspension decision, and shall provide copies of the decision to the employee and to the College's General Counsel. The decision of the President shall be final.

The President's record of the hearing, and any audio or video recording or transcription therefrom, shall be the official record of the hearing.

2) <u>Suspension Without Pay Procedures for Non-Exempt Employees</u> – A supervisor may, with the advice of the College's General Counsel and approval of the College President suspend a non-exempt employee without pay if such suspension is deemed appropriate by the suspending official based upon the evidence adduced by investigation and considered during such procedures.

The length of suspension should be determined by the seriousness of the matter and the employee's past work behavior. Normally, suspensions will be of one to three days duration, but may be longer. A written statement of the reasons for, and the length of, the suspension will be given or made available to the employee by not later than the end of the next College business day following the imposition of the suspension. The statement should explain to the employee the problem area(s) and indicate the action(s) necessary to resolve the problem(s). A copy of the statement will be given to the employee and also placed in their official personnel file. The employee should be asked to acknowledge receipt of the statement by signing a copy of the statement. If the employee refuses to do so, the supervisor should note such refusal on the personnel file copy of the statement. Suspension statements will remain in the personnel file permanently.

- a) Appeals by Non-Exempt Employees of Suspensions Without Pay Non-exempt employees (regular and non-regular) serve at the continuing discretion of the College President. In the case of such employees, a suspension without pay imposed in accordance with the procedures set forth above shall be final, and no appeal shall be allowed therefrom.
- 3) Suspension With Pay Procedure Suspension imposed as a disciplinary action will normally be without pay. However, suspension of an employee with pay is authorized if the purpose of the suspension is to conduct an investigation of the facts to determine appropriate action, or if other circumstances warrant. Suspension with pay may be imposed with the prior approval of the College President, but may be imposed without the "due process" procedures required prior to a suspension of an exempt employee without pay, and without any right of appeal. Suspension with pay may be followed by suspension without pay or discharge only after following any "due process" procedures specified in this Procedures Memorandum as being applicable to such actions, however.

### F. <u>Discharge of Exempt Employees</u>

1) Nonrenewal of Appointment or Reductions in Force

Non-renewal of an appointment of a professional staff employee (including probationary faculty, but excluding non-probationary faculty), upon expiration of an appointment, is not considered a "discharge" or "dismissal" under this PM. "Just cause" is not required for such non-renewals of appointments. Likewise, reductions in force are not considered "discharges" or "dismissals" under this PM, but may be covered under other procedures or policies of the College.

# 2) "Just Cause" Dismissal

a) The term "just cause" means incompetence, neglect of duty, unprofessional conduct, insubordination, immorality, physical or mental incapacity, or other conduct that interferes substantially with continued performance of duties. Incompetence includes, but is not limited to, demonstrated deficiencies or shortcomings in knowledge of subject matter or teaching or administrative skills.

"Just cause" is required to dismiss from employment:

- (1) Exempt employees (other than non-probationary full-time faculty) after completion of the applicable two-year probationary period, except where separation from employment is being effected through non-renewal of an appointment; and
- (2) Non-probationary full-time faculty employees, either during or at the end of a term of appointment.
- b) Where "just cause" is not required to terminate the employment of an exempt employee (see F.1 and F.2, above), the President shall make the final determination regarding termination. No appeal shall be allowed to the Board of Governors.
- c) Where "just cause" is required to terminate the employment of an exempt employee (see F.2 above), the employee may not be terminated until after he/she has been provided with each of the following "due process" procedures:
  - (1) Written notice of the cause or causes for disciplinary action;
  - (2) An explanation of the evidence against the employee, including the names of person(s) making allegations about the matter and witnesses, in sufficient detail to enable the employee to meaningfully respond to the charge(s) and present evidence relating to them; and

(3) A meaningful opportunity to respond to the allegations/charges against the employee, to explain his or her side of the story, and to present evidence in support of his or her defense.

If the President or their designee, after the foregoing "due process" procedures have been completed, determines that just cause exists and termination is warranted, the employee shall be notified in writing of the termination decision. (If the matter involves a contract non-reappointment, a contract termination that is not to be effective until the beginning of the ensuing contract year, or a contract amendment that is not to be effective until the beginning of the ensuing contract year, rather than a termination of employment during the term of the current contract or appointment, then the provisions of Neb.Rev.Stat. § 85-1528 shall apply.) An employee so notified shall have the right to request a hearing before the Board of Governors.

If the employee wishes to request a hearing before the Board of Governors, the employee must deliver to the College President or to the College's General Counsel, within five (5) calendar days after the date the employee is notified in writing of the termination decision, a written request for a hearing before the Board of Governors. For this purpose, if the last calendar day for delivering the written request for a hearing falls on a Saturday, Sunday, College holiday, or day that the College is closed due to inclement weather, the written request for a hearing shall be considered to have been timely delivered by the employee if it is delivered on the next ensuing business day on which the College Business Office is open for business.

Upon receipt of a timely written request for a hearing before the Board of Governors, the Board Chair shall set a hearing date and time. The President or College General Counsel shall provide notice of the hearing date and time to the employee. The hearing shall be held before not less than a quorum of the Board, and the hearing shall be held as soon as a quorum of the Board practicably may be convened for such purpose. In no event will the hearing be held less than five (5) calendar days after the date of delivery of the written request for hearing by the employee.

Pursuant to Neb.Rev.Stat. § 85-1528, if the matter involves a contract non-reappointment, contract termination that is not to be effective until the beginning of the ensuing contract year, or contract amendment that is not to be effective until the beginning of the ensuing contract year, rather than a termination of employment during the term of a current contract or appointment, the hearing shall be held within ten (10) days after receipt of the employee's timely written request for a hearing.

At the hearing before the Board, the College General Counsel (or another individual designated by the President) shall present evidence in support of the termination (or amendment) and the employee may present evidence related thereto. The Board shall render a written decision, based on the evidence produced at the hearing, to sustain, reverse, or modify the termination decision (or to amend or terminate the employee's contract for the ensuing year, as the case may be), and shall provide copies of the decision to the employee and to the College's General Counsel. The decision of the Board shall be final.

The board's record of the hearing, and any audio or video recording or transcription therefrom, shall be the official record of the hearing.

#### G. Discharge of Non-Exempt Employees

1) Regular non-exempt employees – Termination of a non-exempt employee during their applicable orientation or probationary period, and any extension thereof, and termination of a non-exempt employee due to reduction in force or elimination of positions, shall not be considered a "discharge" or "dismissal" under this PM.

The appropriate Vice President may, with the approval of the College President, discharge a non-exempt employee when, in the exercise of the Vice President's discretion and judgment, the best interests of the College require discharge.

The supervisor will provide or mail to the employee a written statement confirming the discharge and the effective date of discharge within 72 hours of any verbal discharge notice. Copies of the discharge notice will be provided to Human Resources and the higher level supervisors.

A non-exempt employee who has satisfactorily completed their applicable orientation or probationary period, and any extension of such period, will be given two weeks (fourteen calendar days) notice of termination or, at the option of the College President, two weeks (14 calendar days) pay in lieu of such notice, unless the discharge is based upon unprofessional conduct, misappropriation or misuse of College funds or property, insubordination, or immorality.

Termination of a non-exempt employee, concurred in by the College President, shall be final and no appeal or grievance will be allowed or considered which arises therefrom.

The College President, or his or her designee, may, at their discretion, suspend (with or without pay) or discharge any regular non-exempt employee without any recommendation from a Dean or Vice President, and without right of appeal.

2) <u>Non-Regular Non-Exempt Employees</u> – Non-regular non-exempt employees may be terminated or otherwise disciplined by the President without notice, pay in lieu

of notice, or cause, at the continuing discretion of the President. No appeal or grievance will be allowed or considered which arises therefrom.

Nothing contained in this PM shall be interpreted to mean that either regular or non-regular non-exempt employees serve other than at the continuing discretion of the College President.

# 6. Miscellaneous

- A. <u>Investigative Considerations</u> Supervisory staff should thoroughly investigate all pertinent aspects of a case before imposing or initiating non-disciplinary action or disciplinary action. In order to determine the facts of the case, the supervisor should interview the employee and any witnesses deemed by the supervisor to possess relevant information. Investigation should include obtaining and retaining any physical or written evidence and hearing any explanation the employee may choose to offer. The supervisor should consider visiting the incident site if such a visit would be helpful. The supervisor should cross-check stories if conflicts or inconsistencies exist. The scope of the investigation should be consistent with the circumstances of the case and the nature of the action contemplated.
- B. <u>Performance Reviews</u> The completion of performance review forms during periods when employees are experiencing job performance problems or engaging in misconduct is extremely important. Performance evaluations are normally completed annually. However, they may be conducted at any time during the process of non-disciplinary actions or disciplinary actions. They serve as important documentation of efforts to correct employee deficiencies. It is extremely important that such reviews accurately and fully reflect performance and/or conduct deficiencies and recommend improvement actions.
- C. <u>Confidentiality</u> A supervisor should discuss disciplinary investigations and matters only with those individuals who have a need to know or who can provide pertinent facts. Caution should be used to protect reputations.
- D. Relationship to Grievance Procedures Except as may be provided otherwise in a then applicable collective bargaining agreement, the appeal rights (if any) specified herein shall be the exclusive review procedures and appeal rights allowed respecting the non-disciplinary actions and disciplinary actions described herein. Except as specifically permitted herein, no grievance procedure of the College may be utilized to obtain any review of, or to appeal from, any non-disciplinary action or disciplinary action imposed under this Procedure Memorandum.
- 7. Special Notice Under The Drug-Free Schools And Communities Act Amendments Of 1989: See PM VI-30, <u>Drug Free Workplace Requirements</u> and PM X-5, <u>Drug Prevention Program</u> Under the Drug Free Schools and Communities Act as Amended.

# SECTION II General Work Expectations

The following is an illustrative (but not exhaustive) list of expectations with which every College employee must comply. College employees must satisfy such expectations regarding personal conduct. Failure to do so may result in disciplinary action, if deemed appropriate by the College.

#### 1. General Expectations

- A. Employees are to be attentive to their work responsibilities and are to perform those responsibilities competently and efficiently while maintaining harmonious and cooperative relations with other employees.
- B. Loafing, loitering, sleeping, visiting and engaging in unauthorized personal business (by telephone or otherwise) while on duty are not permitted.
- C. Employees shall comply with all Board of Governors and College policies and procedures.
- D. Employees shall refrain from engaging in any unlawful discrimination because of or based upon race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, age, national origin, marital status, or disability. Harassment in any form, including but not limited to harassment based on or because of any of the classifications listed in the preceding sentence, is likewise prohibited.
- E. Insubordination, disobedience and failure or refusal to follow written or oral instructions from supervisory authority is prohibited. However, supervisory directives which would result in blatant infractions of health and safety regulations, or supervisory directives to engage in illegal actions, are not to be carried out and are to be immediately reported to a higher authority within the College.
- F. Disclosure of confidential information or records, other than to an individual entitled to receive the information or record as part of his or her official duties for the College or to an individual entitled by law to receive such information or record, is prohibited. Providing information or making any statement to any person, knowing the information or statement is false, is similarly prohibited. Unethical use of confidential information or intentional falsification of any record is likewise prohibited.
- G. Employees must observe all safety and health rules, including rules requiring use of protective equipment and clothing, and laws, rules and regulations governing operation of equipment, machinery, and vehicles. Employees must immediately report accidents or injuries that occur during working hours or while on College business.

#### 2. Hours of Work and Attendance

- A. Unless otherwise directed by supervisory authority, employees must comply with their established work day starting and quitting times and are only to take authorized breaks and lunch periods. Employees must work the full number of hours for which they are paid, less any official paid leave time or absence which has been approved.
- B. Sick leave must be used properly. Excessive use or abuse of sick leave is unacceptable. Absences will be excused only with proper authorization. Absences without notification and prior approval are prohibited. If an employee is unexpectedly absent, supervisory authority must be notified in person or by telephone at the earliest possible time, and in no event later than one-half hour after the employee was to have commenced work. Such notice to the supervisor must be given each day that the illness continues unless excused. No employee may leave work without supervisory approval, except in a bona fide emergency, in which event the employee personally shall notify the supervisor immediately at the first opportunity.

## 3. Property

- A. Unauthorized entry upon, use, abuse, misuse, theft, conversion, possession or waste of College-owned property, property at College work sites, or property of another on a College campus or other facility under the control of or being used by the College, is prohibited.
- B. Improper or unlawful use of College vehicles, equipment, facilities or materials is prohibited. Waste, diversion, conversion, theft, or unauthorized personal use of College supplies or telephone, reproduction, or other equipment is prohibited.
- C. Installation of any computer software on any College computer without written approval of the supervisor is prohibited.

## 4. Personal Actions and Appearance

- A. Employees are expected to remain calm even when provoked or in stressful situations. Employees will not threaten or attempt to do bodily or other injury, engage in physical violence, intentionally inflict mental anguish, or engage in any other physically or verbally abusive action directed toward students, College employees, representatives of other organizations, or the general public.
- B. Unauthorized or unlawful possession, use, trading, selling, or delivery of alcoholic beverages, controlled substances, or narcotics during the employee's work hours or while on College property, or while engaged in College business, is prohibited. This includes, but is not limited to, the unlawful possession, use or distribution of illicit drugs or alcohol on College property or as part of or in the course of any College activity.

- C. Employees shall not report to work in: (a) a physical or mental condition which is unsafe to the employee, others, or physical property; (b) a physical or mental condition which renders one substantially incapable of effectively performing job responsibilities; or (c) a physical or mental condition which creates an unfavorable public image. Such conditions include, but are not limited to, those caused by disabling physical illness or by being under the influence of alcohol, narcotics, or other chemical substances, or by abuse of alcohol, narcotics, or other chemical substance.
- D. Unauthorized solicitation of funds, donations or services, unauthorized sale of commercial products, and unauthorized political solicitation, while on College business or premises, are prohibited. Unauthorized distribution of printed, published, or other mass-produced material is not permitted during the working time of either the distributor or distributee, or in College work areas.
- E. Unauthorized possession, lending, borrowing, duplication, or careless or improper use, or failure to report the loss of College keys or other assigned items, are prohibited. Return of all College property upon termination is required.
- F. Employees must refrain from using abusive or foul language.

# 5. Outside Activities and Employment

Public conduct that materially interferes with an employee's ability to effectively perform assigned duties, or which has a detrimental effect on the College's image or operations, is prohibited. This includes, but is not limited to, commission of a felony or other crime of dishonesty or moral turpitude, or willful failure to comply with court-ordered obligations.

Adopted 9/1/90 (Professional Employee Discipline Procedural Suggestions and General Work Expectations and PM VII-22 Classified Employee Discipline Procedural Suggestions and General Work Expectations) Revised and Combined 1/22/02; Revised 11/11/03; 6/21/07; 1/17/08; 2/27/08; 12/18/12; 11/17/16; 7/26/2021 (title changes only); 8/12/22, 9/9/24 (fixed internal document links only)